MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE, HELD ON TUESDAY, 20TH OCTOBER, 2020 AT 6.00 PM

Present:	Councillors White (Chairman), Bray (Vice-Chairman), Alexander, Cawthron, Casey, Codling, Fowler, Harris and Placey	
Also Present:	Councillors Bush, G V Guglielmi, Newton, Scott and Wiggins.	
In Attendance:	Ian Davidson (Chief Executive), Paul Price (Corporate Director), Graham Nourse (Assistant Director (Planning), Lisa Hastings (Assistant Director (Governance) & Monitoring Officer), Trevor Faulkner (Planning Officer), Matthew Lang (Planning Officer), Keith Durran (Democratic Services Officer), Emma Haward (Leadership Support Officer), Hattie Dawson-Dragisic (Corporate Services Apprentice).	

57. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS

Apologies were received from Councillor Casey for his late attendance.

58. <u>MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING</u>

It was moved by Councillor Bray and seconded by Councillor Harris and **RESOLVED** that the minutes of the last meeting of the Committee held on **Tuesday, 6 October 2020** be approved as a correct record subject to the following amendments:

Councillor White referred to page 2, paragraph 2 of the Committee minutes whereby it mentioned 'highways'. Reason for refusal was amended as below:

2) in light of the clear legal advice the Planning Committee confirms that it does not wish to continue defending ground 3 of the reasons for refusal (loss of privacy);

59. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillors Scott and Wiggins both declared a personal interest in **Planning Application 20/00239/FUL – Ground Floor 1 Lanswood Park, Broomfield Road, Elmstead, Colchester** due to being the Ward Members.

Councillor Bush declared a personal interest in **Planning Application 20/00194/FUL –** Land North West of Redhouse Farm, Oakley Road, Wix Manningtree CO11 2SF due to being both the Parish Councillor and Ward Councillor.

Councillor G V Guglielmi declared a personal interest in **Planning Application 20/00458/OUT Land East of Bromley Road, Lawford CO11 2HS** due to being the Ward Member.

60. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE PURSUANT TO COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 38

There were none on this occasion.

61. <u>A.1 - PLANNING APPLICATION - 19/01706/OUT - LAND SOUTH WEST OF</u> HORSLEY CROSS ROUNDABOUT CLACTON ROAD HORSLEY CROSS CO11 2NZ

Members recalled that this application had been reported to the Planning Committee on 14 July 2020, when it had been resolved to approve the application subject to a suite of planning conditions. Subsequent to that meeting the applicant and agent (in discussions with their legal advisors) had advised that they would like to enter into a Section 106 Agreement to address the issue of skylark plots on land outside of the application site (land under the same current land ownership but beyond the 'red line' application boundaries).

The Committee was informed that whilst condition 33 of the previous permission was not specific to the requirement for the off-site skylark plots, by inference it was required as it formed part of the mitigation measures set out in the submitted Ecological Assessment referred to in that condition. The condition read as follows:

"No development shall commence on site, until a scheme to minimise the potential impact of the development on wildlife present on site (including details of the timing of their implementation) has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The Scheme shall have regard to the Ecological Assessment prepared by MLM Consulting Engineers Limited (Revision C02 dated 4 October 2019) that form part of the planning application documents and shall include opportunities to enhance the wildlife value of the site. The scheme shall be fully implemented as so approved.

Reason: To ensure that the development incorporates proportionate mitigation measures to address the impact of the development and takes the opportunity to incorporate biodiversity enhancements in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and local plan policies."

In addition, paragraph 6.38 of the earlier Committee Report (repeated below), stated the following and included reference to the skylark plots:

"The planning application submission has included an Ecological Assessment which confirms that an extended phase 1 habitat survey of the site was carried out in late 2018 alongside dedicated protected species surveys (i.e. reptiles, wintering and breeding birds, bats, water vole and otter) that were carried out in 2019. Whilst the report confirms that the current proposals are unlikely to affect bats as boundary trees are to be retained, the proposal will affect habitat suitable for reptiles, birds and water vole. A triangular parcel of land north of the site consisting of improved grassland provides a potential receptor site for reptiles found on site whilst the creation of an attenuation basin and surrounding grassland is taking place. The creation of the basin and grassland will improve the on-site habitat for reptiles, as will the creation of a landscape bund along the northern boundary of the site. It will be possible to mitigate for one skylark territory on site with mitigation for the remaining four territories being provided through eight skylark plots create in off-site arable fields. A mitigation licence will be required from Natural England to allow for the installation of a headwall into the bank of the adjacent 'Holland Brook' (on the western boundary of the site) to be carried out lawfully."

It was reported that the applicant and agent (in discussions with their legal advisors) had also reviewed the proposed suite of planning conditions and sought some amendments which would provide a degree of flexibility to recognise the phased approach to the delivery of the site. The approved conditions covered the whole site and did not provide this degree of flexibility.

The proposed changes to the planning conditions were considered by Officers to be both acceptable and reasonable, providing the same level of controls but recognising that this site would in all likelihood be delivered in two distinct phases.

In terms of the application more generally, it was reported that it related to a site which was approximately 11.2 ha and was presently open agricultural land, with part of the site having been used for weekly car boot sales during March to October. It was in a rural area in the centre of the District and to the immediate south west of the A120/B1035 roundabout at Horsley Cross. Colchester was about 8 miles to the west and Harwich was about 9 miles to the east.

The Committee was reminded that an 'extant' consent for outline planning permission (13/00745/OUT) on the site had been approved by the Council on 4 August 2014 (with subsequent approval of reserved matters and Certificate of Lawfulness applications to confirm commencement of works) for "Development of site to provide a new industrial park with up to 28,280m2 of floorspace for B2 and B8 uses, a bus depot and 30m high telecommunications mast. All with associated access, landscaping, parking and highway improvements".

Officers felt that the development of the land would result in harm to the character and appearance of the countryside. However, with sensitive design of the buildings and careful use of 'bunding' and soft landscaping the development could result in the creation of iconic structures in a prominent setting. The development layout indicated the retention of boundary trees, and their physical protection during the construction phase of any development, could be secured by conditions.

With respect to ecology, provided the avoidance, mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures described in the submitted Ecology Assessment were implemented, Officers felt that there would be no residual effects significant at a local level or above and the scheme should result in a net gain in biodiversity. The development proposals were unlikely to have any significant effect on statutory or nonstatutory designated sites.

Officers considered that the lawful commencement of works on the existing consented scheme – which kept that 'extant' - and the submission of the current application with a known end-user for the 'Phase 1' component of the site, indicated that there was now a realistic prospect of business activity on the site and it was hoped that this would be the economic catalyst for 'Phase 2' which would bring new businesses into the Tendring area.

Therefore Officers believed that the proposal would result in no material harm to interests of acknowledged importance and would facilitate substantial economic development within the District. As per the previous recommendation to the July Planning Committee and the subsequent Committee resolution to approve, officers continued to recommend approval, subject to the list of updated planning conditions and the completion of a Section 106 Agreement.

The Committee had before it the published Officer report containing the key planning issues, relevant planning policies, planning history, any response from consultees,

written representations received and a recommendation of **approval subject to** recommendations.

At the meeting, an oral presentation was made by the Council's Planning Officer (TF) in respect of the application.

Following discussion by the Committee, it was moved by Councillor Alexander, seconded by Councillor Bray and unanimously **RESOLVED**, that the Assistant Director (Planning) (or equivalent authorised officer) be authorised to grant planning permission for the development, subject to:

Conditions and Reasons:

1. Application for approval of reserved matters relating to the appearance; landscaping; layout; and scale of the development shall be made to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason - The application as submitted does not provide sufficient information for consideration of these details and to comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of two years from the date of the approval of the last of the reserved matters approved.

Reason - To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

- 3. In conjunction with the submission of the first of the reserved matters, a Strategic Phasing Plan identifying the various **strategic** elements of the development and the timing of their provision shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Strategic Phasing Plan shall include details of the following:
 - i. Surface and foul water drainage strategy incorporating Sustainable Urban Drainage systems and attenuation methods;
 - ii. Strategic biodiversity enhancements and landscaping works; and
 - iii. The order in which the phases are to be developed.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details of the Strategic Phasing Plan as approved **unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority or through discharge of conditions pursuant to this permission**.

Reason - To ensure that the scheme is brought forward in a timely and comprehensive manner in the interests of proper planning and to ensure a satisfactory relationship between the various components of the development and between the site and adjoining land.

- 4. In conjunction with the submission of the first of the reserved matters a Design Code shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Design Code shall relate to and include details of the following:
 - i) Scale;
 - ii) Density;
 - iii) Massing;
 - iv) Height;
 - v) Landscape;
 - vi) Layout;
 - vii) Design and architectural standards;
 - viii) Materials and external colours;
 - ix) Signage;
 - x) Access;
 - xi) Land use;
 - xii) Parking and servicing areas;
 - xiii) Sustainability principles and energy efficiency measures; and
 - xiv) Key spaces.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details of the Design Code as approved for the lifetime of the development.

Reason - To ensure that the scheme is brought forward in a timely and comprehensive manner in the interests of proper planning; the environment; amenity; the character and appearance of the area and highway safety.

5. No development shall commence in each of the phases identified within the approved Strategic Phasing Plan until reserved matters for that phase relating to the appearance; landscaping; layout; and scale of the development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development of each of the phases identified within the approved Strategic Phasing Plan shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason - The application as submitted does not provide sufficient information for consideration of these details; to comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004; and to ensure that the scheme is brought forward in a timely and comprehensive manner in the interests of proper planning; the environment; amenity; the character and appearance of the area and highway safety.

6. Details of the existing and proposed ground levels of each phase of the development (as approved within the Strategic Phasing Plan referred to in Condition 3) including the finished floor levels; eaves levels; and ridge heights and details of all areas of cut and fill (including details of the importation and exportation of any materials) shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. No development within the phase that the details relate to shall begin until those details have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No building shall be occupied (whether in whole or in part) in the relevant phase until all the works to implement the approved details have been fully completed.

Reason - To ensure a satisfactory relationship between the various components of the development and between the site and adjoining land. To ensure that construction is carried out at a suitable level having regard to drainage, access, the appearance of the development, any trees or hedgerows and the amenities of neighbouring properties.

7. Samples and precise details of the manufacturer and types and colours of the external facing and roofing materials to be used in the construction of each phase of the development (as approved within the Strategic Phasing Plan referred to in Condition 3 and the Design Code referred to in Condition 4) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No development shall **be occupied** within the phase that the details relate to until the details have been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The materials as may be approved shall be those used in the development unless otherwise first approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure that materials of an acceptable quality appropriate to the area are used across the application site and for the lifetime of the development.

8. No building on the Phase 1 site shall exceed 21.7 metres in height (save for the **boiler house flue which may be up to 59.3m in height)** and no building on the Phase 2 site shall exceed 12 metres, as measured from the finished site levels immediately adjacent to the building to which it relates.

Reason - In the interests of proper planning; amenity and the character of the area.

9. No boundary treatments shall be installed within each phase (as approved within the Strategic Phasing Plan referred to in Condition 3) until full written details of the provision; siting; design and materials of screen walls; fences; and security gates within that phase have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The screen walls; fences; and security gates shall be erected in accordance with the approved details before the first occupation of the building(s) to which they relate in that phase and shall at all times thereafter be retained in the approved form.

Reason - To ensure that the materials; design; height and location of the boundary treatments are of an acceptable quality appropriate to the area and that they are used across the application site for the lifetime of the development.

10. No street lighting, floodlighting, or other means of illuminating any part of the site outside any of the buildings hereby approved shall be erected or installed until written details of the illumination works have been submitted to and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The works concerned shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason - In the interests of residential amenity; the character of the area and highway safety.

11. No part of the development shall be occupied until the roundabout on the B1035 to provide access to the proposal site has been completed to accord with the scheme illustrated by drawing no. **Highway Layout Plan 3203 02 RA** along

with any speed management measures required by the Highway Authority details of which shall have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To protect highway efficiency of movement and safety in accordance with Policy DM1, DM9 and DM10 of the Highway Authority's Development Management Policies as adopted as County Council Supplementary Guidance in February 2011.

12. No development shall take place **on a phase** until the following have been provided or completed **for that phase**:

Construction Traffic Management Plan, which shall be adhered to during the construction phase of development **for that phase**, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The Plan should include details regarding any temporary traffic management/signage and wheel cleaning facilities for the duration of the construction phase to prevent the deposition of mud or other debris onto the highway network/public areas, turning and parking facilities for delivery/construction vehicles within the limits of the application site together with an adequate parking area for those employed in developing the site.

Reason - In the interests of highway safety and efficiency.

13. No occupation of the development shall take place until the following have been provided or completed:

- The highway works as shown in principle on Proposed Highway layout plan drawing no. 3203 02 RA, dated 13 September 2019.

- A 2-metre wide footway on both sides of Clacton Road on the north side of the proposed roundabout including relocation/ replacement of electricity poles/ lighting, road signs, removal of redundant kerbing and replacement with upstand kerb, tactile paving and footway and any associated drainage works.

- 2x2m footway on the north side of the proposed roundabout as shown in principal on drawing no. 3203 02 RA.

Reason - To make adequate provision within the highway for the additional pedestrian traffic generated within the highway as a result of the proposed development.

14. Prior to occupation of the proposed development the provision of bus stop infrastructure for the two new bus stops as shown in principal on drawing no. 3203 02 RA, to include but not restricted to bus stop cage markings, bus shelter (x2) Kassel Kerbs and bus timetable information.

Reason - In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting sustainable development and transport.

15. The provision of a vehicular turning facility, of a design to be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority shall be constructed, surfaced and maintained free from obstruction within the site at all times for that sole purpose.

Reason - To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a forward gear in the interest of highway safety.

16. There shall be no discharge of surface water onto the Highway.

Reason - To prevent hazards caused by water flowing onto the highway and to avoid the formation of ice on the highway in the interest of highway safety.

17. No occupation of any phase of the development shall take place prior to the submission of a workplace travel plan to the Local Planning Authority for approval in consultation with Essex County Council for that phase. Such approved travel plan shall be actively implemented for a minimum period of 5 years. It shall be accompanied by a monitoring fee of £6,000 (plus the relevant sustainable travel indexation) to be paid before occupation to cover the 5-year period unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority as part of the approved travel plan.

Reason – In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting sustainable development and transport.

- 18. From first occupation of Phase 1 of the development the occupier will provide a private transport service for employees using minibus private hire, taxi or other vehicles or services to transport staff to or from **Phase 1** the development as follows:
 - operating Monday to Friday at main shift changeover patterns and or at times when the maximum number of staff arrive at or leave the development site;
 - the staff pick up drop off catchment will include but is not restricted to towns/villages of Brantham, Manningtree, Mistley, and Lawford;
 - pick up and drop off points will be flexible depending on the home location of staff using the service;
 - the service will be free to staff for the first six months of occupation of Phase
 1. Staff may then be charged to use the service but as a subsidised rate, no greater than the comparable local bus fare;
 - the service will be operated from first occupation of Phase 1 for a period of up to five years after first occupation of Phase 1 on the subsidised basis;
 - Staff will be made aware of the private transport service as part of their relocation pack, which shall include details of travelling by all active and sustainable modes. Further marketing shall be carried out as required to ensure any new starters to the occupant company are also made aware of the service;
 - the service will be first monitored six months after occupation, with further monitoring occurring annually on the anniversary of site occupation for a period of five years. This monitoring is to be provided to Essex County Council as local highway authority as part of the Travel Plan monitoring. The monitoring will provide relevant statistical information such as the number of staff using the service, reasons why staff who live in the catchment do not use the service, details of any issues with the provision of the service; and
 - the service shall continue on a subsidised basis for a period of five years unless Essex County Council acting reasonably on the basis of the monitoring conclude there is insufficient staff demand for the service, the

service will then operate on a commercial basis with no subsidy at the end of the 5-year period.

Reason - In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting sustainable development and transport.

- 19. From first occupation of Phase 2 of the development the occupier(s) will provide a private transport service for employees using minibus private hire taxi or other vehicles or services to transport staff to or from the **Phase 2** development as follows:
 - operating Monday to Friday at main shift changeover patterns and or at times when the maximum number of staff arrive at or leave the development site;
 - the staff pick up drop off catchment will include but is not restricted to towns/villages of Brantham, Manningtree, Mistley, and Lawford;
 - pick up and drop of points will be flexible depending on the home location of staff using the service;
 - for the first six months of occupation of each respective building at Phase 2 the service shall be free to staff based in that building. Staff may then be charged to use the service but as a subsidised rate, no greater than the comparable local bus fare;
 - the private transport service provision shall be regularly promoted to all employees on the whole site as part of the occupants commitment to active and sustainable travel, via the occupants individual travel plans;
 - the service shall continue on a subsidised basis for a period of five years unless Essex County Council acting reasonably on the basis of the monitoring conclude there is insufficient staff demand for the service, the service will then operate on a commercial basis with no subsidy at the end of the 5-year period; and
 - the service will be first monitored six months after occupation, with further monitoring occurring annually on the anniversary of site occupation for a period of five years. This monitoring is to be provided to Essex County Council as local highway authority as part of the Travel Plan monitoring. The monitoring will provide relevant statistical information such as the number of staff using the service, reasons why staff who live in the catchment do not use the service, details of any issues with the provision of the service.

Reason - In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting sustainable development and transport in accordance with policies DM9 and DM10.

20. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 as amended or the Town and Country Planning (use Classes) Order 1987 as amended (or any Orders revoking and re-enacting those Orders with or without modification) no building hereby approved shall be used as an office (whether in whole or in part) except as ancillary to the principal use of that building hereby approved.

Reason - In order to ensure that the development is sustainable for its lifetime in accordance with Policy MLM6 of the Tendring District Local Plan: Pre Submission

Focussed Changes 2014 and because Class B1 office uses are defined as 'town centre uses' by the National Planning Policy Framework (**February 2019**) and the accompanying National Planning Policy Guidance: Ensuring the Vitality Viability of Town Centres (March 2014).

21. The submission of reserved matters relating to hard and soft landscaping required by Conditions 1, 3, 4 and 5 of this planning permission for each phase shall include full written details of strategic landscaping/planting belts for the relevant phase of development. The said details shall also accurately identify the spread, girth and species of all existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows on the site and indicate any to be retained, together with measures for their protection which shall comply with the recommendations set out in the British Standards Institute publication "BS5837: 2012 - Trees in Relation to Design; Demolition and Construction". The said details shall also include other areas of strategic planting belts on the perimeter of and within the site and shall also include details of the planting of new trees and shrubs of species which are indigenous and compatible with the landscape and biodiversity characteristics of the locality.

Reason - To ensure satisfactory landscape treatment of the site which will enhance the character and appearance of the site and the area and to ensure protection during construction works of trees, shrubs and hedgerows which are to be retained on or near the site in order to ensure that the character and amenity of the area are not impaired.

22. All changes in ground levels, hard and soft landscaping, planting, seeding or turfing shown on the landscaping details approved pursuant to Conditions 1, 3, 4 and 5 of this planning permission **for each phase** shall be carried out during the first planting and seeding season (October - March inclusive) following the commencement of the development **of that phase** or in such other planting season as shall first have been agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority having had regard to the Strategic Phasing Plan.

Reason - To ensure satisfactory landscape treatment of the site which will enhance the character and appearance of the site and the area and to ensure protection during construction works of trees, shrubs and hedgerows which are to be retained on or near the site in order to ensure that the character and amenity of the area are not impaired.

23. Unless otherwise formally agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority pursuant to the consideration of the reserved matters, no building on any part of the development hereby permitted shall be constructed (whether in whole or in part) until the carriageway of the said estate access road, which provides access between the buildings and the B1035, has been constructed up to and including at least road base level. Until final surfacing of the estate access road is completed, the footway base course shall be provided in a manner to avoid any upstands to gullies, covers, kerbs or other such obstructions within or bordering the footway. The carriageway, footways and footpaths in front of each building shall be completed with final surfacing by no later than 12 months after the first occupation of that building.

Reason - To protect highway efficiency of movement and safety.

24. Prior to implementation of each phase (as approved within the Strategic Phasing Plan referred to in Condition 3) full written details of the areas to be provided for the loading, unloading, turning and parking of vehicles (including adequate cycle and disabled parking spaces) for that phase shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. No building shall be occupied within that phase until the said areas to which it relates have been constructed in accordance with the details as so approved. The said areas shall be retained and kept available for use as such at all times thereafter.

Reason - To protect highway efficiency of movement and safety.

25. No goods, materials or containers shall be stored, stacked or deposited on the site outside the buildings hereby approved above a height of 3m as measured from the finished site level or outside of those areas of the site the details of which shall have previously been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No commercial or manufacturing activities or processes shall be carried on outside the buildings.

Reason - In the interests of residential amenity; the character of the area and highway safety.

26. Full written details of areas for the storage of refuse and/or other waste for each phase of the development (as approved within the Strategic Phasing Plan referred to in Condition 3) shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority prior to the implementation of the phase of the development to which the details relate. The said areas and details as so approved shall be provided before the first occupation of each building within each phase and shall thereafter be retained as such at all times.

Reason - In the interests of the environment; visual amenity; residential amenity; and the character of the area.

27. Details of a dust management plan for each phase of the development (as approved within the Strategic Phasing Plan referred to in Condition 3) shall be submitted to and approved prior to the implementation of the phase that the details relate to. Such details are to include measures to control the spread of dust and other similar material throughout every construction phase of the development **for that phase**. The dust management plan as so approved shall be fully implemented.

Reason - In the interests of the environment; residential amenity; the character of the area and highway safety.

28. No part of the site shall be used for retail sales (whether in whole or in part) except as directly ancillary to the uses hereby approved.

Reason - In order to ensure that the development is sustainable for its lifetime.

29. No works except demolition shall takes place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the **phase**, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority **for that phase**. The scheme should include but not be limited to:

- Limiting discharge rates to 6.6l/s for the entire site as shown in drawing number 0110, revision P04 for all storm events up to an including the 1 in 100 year rate plus 40% allowance for climate change. All relevant permissions to discharge from the site into any outfall should be demonstrated.

- Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme.

- A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and ground levels, and location and sizing of any drainage features.

- A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the approved strategy.

The scheme shall subsequently be implemented prior to occupation **of that phase**. It should be noted that all outline applications are subject to the most up to date design criteria held by the LLFA

Reason -

- To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water from the site.

- To ensure the effective operation of SuDS features over the lifetime of the development.

- To provide mitigation of any environmental harm which may be caused to the local water environment

- Failure to provide the above required information before commencement of works may result in a system being installed that is not sufficient to deal with surface water occurring during rainfall events and may lead to increased flood risk and pollution hazard from the site.

30. No works shall take place **on a phase** until a scheme to minimise the risk of offsite flooding caused by surface water run-off and groundwater during construction works and prevent pollution has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority **for that phase**. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented as approved.

Reason - The National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 163 and paragraph 170 state that local planning authorities should ensure development does not increase flood risk elsewhere and does not contribute to water pollution.

Construction may lead to excess water being discharged from the site. If dewatering takes place to allow for construction to take place below groundwater level, this will cause additional water to be discharged. Furthermore the removal of topsoils during construction may limit the ability of the site to intercept rainfall and may lead to increased runoff rates. To mitigate increased flood risk to the surrounding area during construction there needs to be satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water and groundwater which needs to be agreed before commencement of the development.

Construction may also lead to polluted water being allowed to leave the site. Methods for preventing or mitigating this should be proposed.

31. The applicant or any successor in title must maintain yearly logs of maintenance which should be carried out in accordance with any approved Maintenance Plan. These must be available for inspection upon a request by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason – To ensure the SuDS are maintained for the lifetime of the development as outlined in any approved Maintenance Plan so that they continue to function as intended to ensure mitigation against flood risk.

32. No development shall commence **on a phase** until a foul water strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority **for that phase**. No buildings shall be occupied **on the relevant phase** until the works have been carried out in accordance with the foul water strategy so approved unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure that an adequate and satisfactory means of foul drainage is provided to avoid pollution, in the absence of a foul sewer.

33. No development shall commence on site, until a scheme to minimise the potential impact of the development on wildlife present on site (including details of the timing of their implementation) has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The Scheme shall have regard to the Ecological Assessment prepared by MLM Consulting Engineers Limited (Revision C02 dated 4 October 2019) that form part of the planning application documents and shall include opportunities to enhance the wildlife value of the site. The scheme shall be fully implemented as so approved.

Reason - To ensure that the development incorporates proportionate mitigation measures to address the impact of the development and takes the opportunity to incorporate biodiversity enhancements in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and local plan policies.

34. No development or preliminary ground-works can commence **on a phase** until a programme of archaeological evaluation, following aerial rectification of cropmark features, has been secured and undertaken in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation, which has been submitted by the applicant, and approved by the planning authority **for that phase**.

Following the completion of this initial phase of archaeological work, a summary report will be prepared and a mitigation strategy detailing the approach to further archaeological excavation and/or preservation in situ, shall be submitted to the local planning authority **for the relevant phase**.

No development or preliminary groundwork can commence on those areas of the development site containing archaeological deposits, until the satisfactory completion of archaeological fieldwork, as detailed in the mitigation strategy, which has been signed off by the local planning authority.

Following completion of the archaeological fieldwork, the applicant will submit to the local planning authority a post-excavation assessment (within six months of the completion date, unless otherwise agreed in advance with the planning authority), which will result in the completion of post-excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and report ready for deposition at the local museum, and submission of a publication report.

Reason - To ensure adequate opportunity is provided for archaeological investigation and research on the site which is potentially of archaeological and historic significance in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and local plan policies.

- 35. In conjunction with the submission of the first of the reserved matters for each phase, a strategic phase plan identifying the following elements of the development and the timing of their provision shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for that phase:
 - i. Technical design details and timing of a temporary site access (if applicable) for the construction phases of the development;
 - ii. Earthworks and changes in existing ground levels including details of the volumes of any materials that are to be exported from or imported to the site;
 - iii. The provision of utilities;
 - iv. Internal access ways; estate roads; parking and servicing areas.

The development on each phase shall be carried out in accordance with the details of the strategic phase plan as approved unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority or through discharge of conditions pursuant to this permission.

Reason - To ensure that the scheme is brought forward in a timely and comprehensive manner in the interests of proper planning; amenity and the character and appearance of the area and to ensure a satisfactory relationship between the various components of the development and between the site and adjoining land. To ensure that construction is carried out at a suitable level having regard to drainage, access, the appearance of the development, any trees or hedgerows and the amenities of neighbouring properties.

36. No development shall commence within each phase until full written details of measures to control odours, including extraction systems, within that phase have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason – To control and limit odour in the interests of nearby local amenity and since the application does not include the necessary details for consideration.

62. <u>A.2 - PLANNING APPLICATION - 20/00194/FUL - LAND NORTH WEST OF</u> <u>REDHOUSE FARM OAKLEY ROAD WIX MANNINGTREE CO11 2SF</u>

Councillor Bush had earlier in the meeting declared a personal interest in Planning Application 20/00194/FUL – Land North West of Redhouse Farm, Oakley Road, Wix Manningtree CO11 2SF due to being both the Parish and Ward Councillor.

Members were informed that this application had been referred to the Planning Committee at the request of Councillor Bush due to his concerns relating to: the nature of the proposal being a substantial industrial process, rather than a typical agricultural facility; failure to satisfy Policy EN1 in that the design and size of the development would create an adverse visual impact on the surrounding countryside and rural landscape; highway access was unsuitable; the substantial quantities of chicken waste and odour together with a risk to water pollution would adversely impact on public amenity; minimal contribution to the local economy; lack of social benefits; number of traffic movements from a significant distance would generate substantial carbon emissions in relation to an environmental role; and, dis-benefits with economic, social and environmental roles lead to the development not being sustainable development.

It was reported that the application was for two buildings to raise broiler chickens. A new vehicular access would be created to the buildings and there would be associated structures including silos, plant room outbuilding, water tank structures, gas tanks and a gate house outbuilding. The main buildings would be to an identical design and have a typical agricultural building appearance; being of a steel portal construction covered by olive green coloured polyester coated profiled sheeting except for the plinth to the walls, some 0.5m in height, of pre-formed concrete.

Though the site was in a rural locality, between the settlements of Wix and Great Oakley, within the parish of Wix and set within open countryside, the site was at a position which was not prominent in the landscape and the proposals included landscaping works. The proposal was in planning terms therefore considered by Officers to be an agricultural use within an agricultural area.

The Committee had before it the published Officer report containing the key planning issues, relevant planning policies, planning history, any response from consultees, written representations received and a recommendation of **approval**.

At the meeting, an oral presentation was made by the Council's Planning Officer (TF) in respect of the application.

An update sheet had been circulated to the Committee prior to the meeting with details of:

A combined letter signed by 5 households on Oakley Road, which included the following reasons for objection:

- "This proposed development neither improves the efficiency of land use, nor reduces the loss or greenfield / open space. It will result in increased traffic through Wix and Great Oakley and specifically on Oakley Road. The applicant, who does not live locally, will have to make daily car journeys to from the site as will the two individuals who will be working part-time at the site;
- The location of the proposed development is <u>outside</u> the Settlement Development Boundaries of both Wix and Great Oakley villages. Given the scale of the development, which is an industrial scale development where 750,000 chickens will be processed each year, it is clearly going to detract from the appearance and character of the area between Wix and Great Oakley;
- It is clear that this proposed development of an industrial scale chicken processing facility on a greenfield site will lead to the material loss of best and most versatile

agricultural land. The current owner of the field (not the applicant) where the proposed chicken farm is going to be located has recently been ploughing and spreading fertiliser on the field, so clearly it remains a viable agricultural land;

- According to the Agricultural Land Classification map (ALC008) published on 18 November 2011, the land upon which the proposed development is planned falls in Grade 2 and therefore this planning application should be should be refused as there is no special justification for siting an industrial scale chicken processing unit at this location;
- The proposed development does not make a positive contribution to the quality of the local environment and does nothing to protect or enhance local character;
- The proposed development is an industrial scale chicken processing farm which will create smells, noise, large volumes of effluent, increased traffic and will have a significant <u>adverse</u> impact on the local landscape and countryside character. For this reason, this proposal should be rejected;
- This proposed development is not dependent on a farm holding and could be sited anywhere. Red House Farm is no longer a farm, but a residential home and the land involved has been part of Great Oakley Lodge since the 1980s;
- Agriculture will not be performed at this location. What is proposed is an industrial scale chicken processing facility that could be located anywhere;
- Clearly, for security etc., external lighting will be provided at the site, which will introduce an urban character into the rural area between Wix and Great Oakley;
- It is evident from the modelling and other work undertaken by the applicant's consultants, and contrary to the comments by the Council's Environmental Officer, the neighbouring properties <u>will be impacted</u> by the construction and operation of this industrial chicken processing plant on Oakley Road, particularly from smell, but also from noise, light pollution, increased traffic on Oakley Road and in the villages of Wix and Great Oakley, etc;
- Dovercourt Dock River, which flows though both Dovercourt and Harwich, runs alongside the site and there is a significant risk of it becoming polluted with run-off from the site. There are also a number of ponds and farm reservoirs in the area, where migrating ducks and geese breed each year. These birds will undoubtedly visit the proposed surface pond at the site bringing a risk of spreading avian viruses and disease from the chickens;
- Setting the development back one field does not ameliorate the fact that the access road to the site will be visible from Oakley Road;
- If the Council's primary concern is the protection of the open character and the value of the landscape, for the benefit of all the residents of the district then this planning application should be rejected. Although plotland developments refer to residential housing, it is clear that this type of new industrial facility does nothing to protect the countryside and fails on sustainable development grounds."

Parish Councillor Robert Stephens, representing Wix Parish Council, spoke against the application.

Parish Councillor Yvonne Bailey, representing Great Oakley Parish Council, spoke against the application.

Councillor Mike Bush, the local Ward Member, spoke against the application.

Ian Pick, the agent acting on behalf of the applicant, spoke in support of the application.

Following discussion by the Committee, it was moved by Councillor Harris, seconded by Councillor Casey and **RESOLVED**, that the Assistant Director (Planning) (or equivalent authorised officer) be authorised to grant planning permission for the development, subject to:

Conditions and Reasons:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason - To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved drawings:

Site location plan, IP/AHB/06 Block plan, IP/AHB/02 IP/AHB/03 IP/AHB/04 IP/AHB/05 Soft landscape proposals, IPA1055-SL Landscaping specification 21314-04-2 21314-03 a 21314-04 21314-03-2 a

Reason – For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. Prior to first use of the vehicular access hereby approved a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme should include but not be limited to:

- Verification of the suitability of infiltration of surface water for the development. This should be based on infiltration tests that have been undertaken in accordance with BRE 365 testing procedure and the infiltration testing methods found in chapter 25.3 of The CIRIA SuDS Manual C753.

- Limiting discharge rates to matched Greenfield runoff rates based on the provision of Long Term Storage for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year rate plus 40% allowance for climate change.

- Demonstrate that all storage features can half empty within 24 hours for the 1:30 plus 40% climate change critical storm event.

- Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.

- Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme.

- A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and ground levels, and location and sizing of any drainage features.

- A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the approved strategy.

Reason – In the interest of the provision of sustainable drainage in accordance with Policy QL3 of the adopted Local Plan, Policy PPL1 of the emerging Local Plan and the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework at paragraphs 163 and 170.

4. No development shall take place, including any ground works or demolition, until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Plan shall provide for:

- i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
- ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials
- iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
- iv. wheel and underbody washing facilities
- v. prior to the commencement of any work on the site, a joint inspection of the route to be used by construction vehicles should be carried out by the Applicant and the Highway Authority, including photographic evidence.
- vi. a scheme to minimise the risk of offsite flooding caused by surface water run-off and groundwater during construction works
- vii. noise control
- viii. emission control
- ix. dust control

Reason - To ensure that parking on the highway does not occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not brought out onto the highway in the interests of highway safety and to ensure that construction does not lead to excess water being discharged from the site.

5. Prior to first use of the development the following shall have been provided or completed:

a) A priority junction off Oakley Road to provide access to the proposed site as shown in principle on planning application, amended viability and access plan drawing number: 21314-03 a.

b) Kerb radii measuring 15 metres.

c) No unbound material shall be used in the surface treatment of the vehicular access within 30 metres of the highway boundary.

Reason - To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a controlled manner and to avoid displacement of loose material onto the highway in the interest of highway safety.

6. Prior to first use of the development, the road junction / access at its centre line shall be provided with a clear to ground visibility splay with dimensions of 4.5 metres by 160 metres in both directions, as measured from and along the nearside edge of the carriageway. Such vehicular visibility splays shall be provided before the road junction / access is first used by vehicular traffic and retained free of any obstruction at all times.

Reason - To provide adequate inter-visibility between vehicles using the road junction / access and those in the existing public highway in the interest of highway safety.

7. Prior to first use of the development a vehicular turning facility, of a design to be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority shall be constructed, surfaced and maintained free from obstruction within the site at all times for that sole purpose.

Reason - To ensure that vehicles can enter and leave the highway in a forward gear in the interest of highway safety.

8. Prior to first use of the development the areas within the site identified for the purpose of loading/unloading/reception and storage of materials and manoeuvring shall be provided clear of the highway and retained thereafter for that sole purpose.

Reason - To ensure that appropriate loading / unloading facilities are available in the interest of highway safety.

9. There shall be no discharge of surface water onto the Highway.

Reason - To prevent hazards caused by water flowing onto the highway and to avoid the formation of ice on the highway in the interest of highway safety.

10. Any new boundary planting shall be planted a minimum of 1 metre back from the highway boundary and any visibility splay.

Reason - To ensure that the future outward growth of the planting does not encroach upon the highway or interfere with the passage of users of the highway, to preserve the integrity of the highway and in the interests of highway safety.

11. No development shall take place, including any grounds works or demolition, until an appropriate Traffic Management Plan and Route Card, to include inbound and outbound routings at the junctions of the A120/Harwich Road and Harwich Road/Oakley Road, and which shall outline a designated route to and from the development for all HGV movements and construction vehicles, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority. The Traffic Management Plan and Route Card shall subsequently be implemented as approved, unless the Local Planning Authority agrees in writing to a variation of the previously approved details.

In addition, that any application made to discharge condition 11 will be submitted to the Committee for its determination.

Reason: To control the location and direction of HGV and construction vehicle movements to and from the site in the interests of highway safety.

12. Prior to first use all mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall have been carried out in accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Emms & Barnett, December 2019) and the Response to Ecology Comments (Emms & Barnett, April 2020) as already submitted with the planning application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.

Reason - To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the local planning authority to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted Local Plan.

13. Prior to construction above slab level of either building to accommodate broiler chickens a Biodiversity Enhancement Layout, providing the finalised details and locations of the enhancement measures contained within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Emms & Barnett, December 2019) and the Response to Ecology Comments (Emms & Barnett, April 2020), shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

The enhancement measures shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter.

Reason - To enhance Protected and Priority Species and allow the local planning authority to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted Local Plan.

14. No means of external lighting shall be installed unless the prior written consent of the local planning authority is given in writing to any external lighting. Any external lighting shall be part of a lighting design scheme for biodiversity which shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance along important routes used for foraging; and show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of appropriate lighting contour plans, Isolux drawings and technical specifications) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory.

All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed without prior consent from the local planning authority.

Reason - To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and in accordance with Policy EN6 of the adopted Local Plan.

15. All planting as shown on the approved landscaping plan shall be carried out during the first planting season (October - March inclusive) following the commencement of the development or in such other phased arrangement as may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any trees or shrubs which, within a period of 5 years of being planted die, are removed or seriously damaged or seriously diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority agrees in writing to a variation of the previously approved details.

Reason – In the interest of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy EN1 of the adopted Local Plan.

16. Prior to first use the ventilation towers to the buildings to house the broiler chickens are to be painted matt black and retained as such.

Reason – In the interest of visual amenity, in accordance with Policies QL9, EN1 and EN23 of the adopted Local Plan.

17. No works except demolition shall takes place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme should include but not be limited to:

- Verification of the suitability of infiltration of surface water for the development. This should be based on infiltration tests that have been undertaken in accordance with BRE 365 testing procedure and the infiltration testing methods found in chapter 25.3 of The CIRIA SuDS Manual C753.

- Limiting discharge rates to matched Greenfield runoff rates based on the provision of Long Term Storage for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year rate plus 40% allowance for climate change.

- Demonstrate that all storage features can half empty within 24 hours for the 1:30 plus 40% climate change critical storm event.

- Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.

- Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme.

- A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and ground levels, and location and sizing of any drainage features.

- A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the approved strategy.

Reason -

-To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water from the site.

- To ensure the effective operation of SuDS features over the lifetime of the development.

- To provide mitigation of any environmental harm which may be caused to the local water environment

- Failure to provide the above required information before commencement of works may result in a system being installed that is not sufficient to deal with surface water occurring during rainfall events and may lead to increased flood risk and pollution hazard from the site.

18. No works shall take place until a scheme to minimise the risk of offsite flooding caused by surface water run-off and groundwater during construction works and prevent pollution has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented as approved.

Reason - The National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 163 and paragraph 170 state that local planning authorities should ensure development does not increase flood risk elsewhere and does not contribute to water pollution.

Construction may lead to excess water being discharged from the site. If dewatering takes place to allow for construction to take place below groundwater level, this will cause additional water to be discharged. Furthermore the removal of topsoils during construction may limit the ability of the site to intercept rainfall and may lead to increased runoff rates. To mitigate increased flood risk to the surrounding area during construction there needs to be satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water and groundwater which needs to be agreed before commencement of the development.

Construction may also lead to polluted water being allowed to leave the site. Methods for preventing or mitigating this should be proposed.

19. Prior to occupation a maintenance plan detailing the maintenance arrangements including who is responsible for different elements of the surface water drainage system and the maintenance activities/frequencies, has been submitted to and agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.

Should any part be maintainable by a maintenance company, details of long term funding arrangements should be provided.

Reason - To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the surface water drainage system to function as intended to ensure mitigation against flood risk.

Failure to provide the above required information prior to occupation may result in the installation of a system that is not properly maintained and may increase flood risk or pollution hazard from the site.

20. The applicant or any successor in title must maintain yearly logs of maintenance which should be carried out in accordance with any approved Maintenance Plan. These must be available for inspection upon a request by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure the SuDS are maintained for the lifetime of the development as outlined in any approved Maintenance Plan so that they continue to function as intended to ensure mitigation against flood risk.

63. <u>A.3 - PLANNING APPLICATION - 20/00239/FUL - GROUND FLOOR 1 LANSWOOD</u> PARK BROOMFIELD ROAD ELMSTEAD COLCHESTER

Councillors Scott and Wiggins had earlier in the meeting each declared a personal interest in Planning Application 20/00239/FUL – Ground Floor 1 Lanswood Park, Broomfield Road, Elmstead, Colchester due to being the Ward Members.

Members were informed that this application had been referred to the Planning Committee as it represented a departure from the adopted Tendring District Local Plan, proposing housing outside of any settlement development boundary in both the saved and emerging Local Plans.

It was reported that this was a hybrid application which sought outline planning permission (access included with appearance, landscaping, layout and scale reserved for later consideration) for up to 10,000 square metres of employment floor space within use classes B1 (business), B2 (general industrial) and B8 (storage and distribution); and 14 houses. Full planning permission was sought for 71 houses.

The Committee was informed that this application had originally been submitted for a total of 72 dwellings and had been increased to a total of 85 dwellings in late July, though the proposed employment floor space remained unchanged. This change had been subject to re-consultation with necessary consultees and neighbours which had now expired. The number of dwellings had been increased in order to provide £430,000 to fund a 3G artificial grass pitch on Charity Field. The Supplementary Planning Document supporting saved Policy COM6 confirmed the open space contribution in this case amounted to £205,024.00. In addition to this the applicant was offering an additional contribution of £224,976.00 which combined with the above open space contribution would provide the full cost of providing the 3G artificial grass pitch. This was a departure from saved Policy COM6 and was offered by the applicant in acknowledgement of the scale of the proposed development and its impact upon the Parish of Elmstead.

Members were made aware that the proposal sought to use the 71 dwellings seeking full planning permission in order to "enable" the expansion of the existing Lanswood Business Park due to the infrastructure servicing the site reaching its capacity as acknowledged in the supporting text to Draft Policy SAE3 (Lanswood Park). The viability of the proposal had been independently assessed and confirmed that the proposal could not provide the £955,835.20 requested by Essex County Council Education or the 26 affordable dwellings. In terms of S106 contributions the applicant had offered £430,000 to fund a 3G artificial grass pitch on Charity Field (£205,024 open space contribution and additional contribution of £224,976.00); the required RAMS contribution of £10,674.30 (£125.58 per dwelling); and £50,000 towards the upgrade of the traffic signals and introduction of MOVA (movement sensor traffic light signals) for the A133 Clacton Road junction with Bromley Road.

Officers considered that this was a sustainable location for development and the significant economic benefits of the proposal in providing up to 10,000 square metres of employment floor space, estimated to provide around 600 jobs, were considered to outweigh the modest landscape harm in this context of mixed residential and commercial development. The proposal did not provide the required contributions towards affordable housing or education on the grounds of viability and this was clearly a negative factor in terms of social sustainability and needed to be balanced against the significant economic benefits of the proposal. Officers were of the opinion that the economic benefits of the proposal, and the viability evidence provided, outweighed the absence of contributions towards education and affordable housing.

The proposal, subject to the recommended conditions, was also considered by Officers to be acceptable in terms of highway safety; residential amenity; ecology; heritage assets; archaeology; drainage; and detailed design, scale and layout.

The Committee had before it the published Officer report containing the key planning issues, relevant planning policies, planning history, any response from consultees, written representations received and a recommendation of **approval**.

At the meeting, an oral presentation was made by the Council's Planning Officer (TF) in respect of the application.

An update sheet had been circulated to the Committee prior to the meeting with details of:

"Elmstead Parish Council has advised that they are no longer seeking to provide a 3G artificial grass pitch at Charity Field and 'in lieu' of this wish to seek provision of a Multi-Use Games Area (MUGA) and associated facilities at a cost of up to £300,000.

This means that a surplus of £130,000 will remain from the agreed S106 contribution.

The Parish would like to secure £70,000 towards the provision of a signalised crossing on the A133 Clacton Road on the western side of the village. Monies contributing towards this crossing have already been secured from residential developments elsewhere in the village and this additional money would cover the remaining costs for provision.

Alternatively, the remaining £130,000 could be used towards affordable housing or education/libraries (ECC had requested a financial contribution of just under £1million towards education and libraries)."

However, the Council's Planning Officer (TF) further updated the Committee to state that the Parish Council no longer wished to pursue an alternative MUGA facility and were happy to continue to seek a financial contribution to provide a 3G artificial pitch at Charity Field. As such the originally officer recommendation should be carried forward.

Accordingly, the Committee had before it an amended Officer recommendation to reflect the above.

Julia Bolton, a local resident, spoke in support of the application.

Parish Councillor John Gray, representing Elmstead Parish Council, spoke in support of the application.

Councillor Gary Scott, a local Ward Member, spoke in support of the application.

Councillor Giancarlo Guglielmi, the Council's Portfolio Holder for Corporate Finance and Governance, spoke in support of the application on behalf of Councillor Mary Newton, the Council's Portfolio Holder for Business and Economic Growth.

Chris Board, the agent on behalf of the applicant, spoke in support of the application.

During the debate on this application Members concurred with the view of the Officers that the employment and community benefits to be gained from this development would, in this instance, outweigh the lack of affordable housing and education provisions.

Following discussion by the Committee, it was moved by Councillor Alexander, seconded by Councillor Bray and **RESOLVED**, that the Assistant Director (Planning) (or equivalent authorised officer) be authorised to grant planning permission for the development, subject to:

Conditions and Reasons:

8.3 Full planning permission

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason - To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and documents:

Layout plan: PA_10_10 E. House types: PA_20 01, PA_20 02, PA_20 03, PA_20 04, PA_20 04, PA_20 06, PA_20 07, PA_20 08, PA_20 09, PA_20 10, PA_20 11, PA_20 12, and PA_20 13. Garages: PA_20 20, PA_20 21, PA_20 22, and PA_20 23. Street scenes: PA_30 01 A and PA_30 02 A. Section: PA_40 01 A

Transport Assessment dated February 2020 and Transport Assessment Addendum dated 21/07/2020 by Richard Jackson Ltd. Preliminary Ecological Appraisal dated February 2020 by Hybrid-Ecology Ltd. Landscape and Visual Appraisal dated February 2020 by SES.

Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Preliminary Method Statements dated 10/02/2020 by Tree Planning Solutions.

Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment dated February 2020 and Flood Risk Assessment Addendum dated 21/07/2020 by Richard Jackson Ltd.

Contaminated Land and Geotechnical Assessment dated 07/02/2020 by Nott Group.

Development Viability report by Fenn Wright dated January 2020 and addendum letter dated 07/04/2020.

Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. No occupation of the development shall take place until the following have been provided or completed:

a) A preliminary design and Stage 1 Road Safety Audit outlining the proposed junction proposal for the residential development with Grange Farm Close. Details of which shall have been previously agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of the development.

b) An affective 2 metre footway shall be provided from the development to the two new bus stops on A133 Clacton Road.

c) Two new bus stops on A133 Clacton Road to be provided near Grange Farm Close junction to include but not restricted to shelter (x2) with bus stop flag, Kassel Kerbs and bus timetables.

d) Alterations to the existing refuge island near the Grange Farm Close junction to provide a crossing point for pedestrians to the new bus stop on the south-eastbound side with drop kerbs/ tactile paving and an affective 2-metre-wide footway to the bus stop.

e) The upgrade of the two closest bus stops (known as Beth Chatto Gardens) on the A133 Clacton Road near Lanswood Park the improvements to include but not restricted to: bus stop flags, bus timetables, Kassel Kerbs and drop kerbs/tactile paving (x2) for the pedestrian crossing points.

Reason - To make adequate provision within the highway for the movement and safety of the additional pedestrian traffic generated as a result of the proposed development.

4. Prior to occupation the vehicle parking area (garage and/or driveway) serving that dwelling as indicated on the approved plans, shall have been provided. The vehicle parking area and associated turning areas and visitor parking shall thereafter be retained in the approved form. The vehicle parking shall not be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles that are related to the use of the development.

Reason - To ensure that on street parking of vehicles in the adjoining streets does not occur in the interests of highway safety and that appropriate parking is provided.

5. Details of cycle parking for every dwelling without a garage shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved facility shall be secure, convenient, covered and provided prior to occupation and retained at all times.

Reason - To ensure appropriate cycle parking is provided in the interest of highway safety and amenity.

6. Prior to occupation the Developer shall be responsible for the provision and implementation of a Residential Travel Information Pack for sustainable transport, the details of which shall have been previously submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The travel packs shall include six one day travel vouchers for use with the relevant local public transport operator.

Reason - In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting sustainable development and transport.

7. Prior to commencement of any above ground works precise details of the provision, siting, design and materials of screen walls and fences shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved screen walls and fences shall be erected prior to the dwellings to which they relate being occupied and thereafter be retained in the approved form. Boundary treatments facing the highway or open spaces will be expected to be of high quality e.g. brick walls. This shall include rear access lockable gates for plots 1-9 and 68-70 which have rear parking courtyards.

Reason - In the interests of visual and residential amenity.

8. Details of the infrastructure improvements serving the business park expansion hereby granted outline planning permission shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The infrastructure improvements, as approved, shall be completed in accordance with the provisions of the S106 legal agreement.

Reason – The dwellings are approved in association with viability evidence on the basis that they fund the infrastructure improvements to serve the business park expansion.

9. Prior to commencement of any above ground works details of the proposed facing and roofing materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason – Insufficient details have been provided with the application, in the interests of visual amenity.

10. No above ground works shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of hard and soft landscaping works for the site, which shall include any proposed changes in ground levels and also accurately identify spread, girth and species of all existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows on the site and indicate any to be retained, together with measures for their protection which shall comply with the recommendations set out in the British Standards Institute publication "BS 5837: 2012 - Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction "

Reason - This is a publicly visible site where an appropriate landscaping scheme is a visually essential requirement.

11. All changes in ground levels, hard landscaping, planting, seeding or turfing shown on the approved landscaping details shall be carried out during the first planting and seeding season (October - March inclusive) following the commencement of the development or in such other phased arrangement as may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any trees or shrubs which, within a period of 5 years of being planted die, are removed or seriously damaged or seriously diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority agrees in writing to a variation of the previously approved details.

Reason - To ensure the adequate maintenance of the approved landscaping scheme for a period of five years in the interests of the character of the surrounding area.

8.4 Outline planning permission

12. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved.

Reason - To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

13. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason - To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

14. No development shall be commenced until plans and particulars of "the reserved matters" referred to in the above conditions relating to the appearance, landscaping, layout and scale have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason - The application as submitted does not provide sufficient particulars for consideration of these details.

15. The development hereby permitted in relation to access only shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans and documents:

Layout plan: PA_10_10 E.

Transport Assessment dated February 2020 and Transport Assessment Addendum dated 21/07/2020 by Richard Jackson Ltd.

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal dated February 2020 by Hybrid-Ecology Ltd.

Landscape and Visual Appraisal dated February 2020 by SES.

Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Preliminary Method Statements dated 10/02/2020 by Tree Planning Solutions.

Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment dated February 2020 and Flood Risk Assessment Addendum dated 21/07/2020 by Richard Jackson Ltd.

Contaminated Land and Geotechnical Assessment dated 07/02/2020 by Nott Group.

Development Viability report by Fenn Wright dated January 2020 and addendum letter dated 07/04/2020.

Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

16. No occupation of the development shall take place until the following have been provided or completed:

a) Alterations to the existing refuge island near the Grange Farm Close junction to provide a crossing point for pedestrians to the new bus stop on the south-eastbound side with drop kerbs/ tactile paving and an affective 2-metre-wide footway to the bus stop.

b) The upgrade of the two closest bus stops (known as Beth Chatto Gardens) on the A133 Clacton Road near Lanswood Park the improvements to include but not restricted to: bus stop flags, bus timetables, Kassel Kerbs and drop kerbs/tactile paving (x2) for the pedestrian crossing points.

Reason - To make adequate provision within the highway for the movement and safety of the additional pedestrian traffic generated as a result of the proposed development.

17. Prior to occupation a workplace travel plan shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such approved travel plan shall be actively implemented for a minimum period of 5 years.

Reason - In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting sustainable development and transport.

18. No goods, materials or containers shall be stored, stacked or deposited on the site outside the buildings, nor shall any commercial/manufacturing activities or processes (except for the loading and unloading of vehicles) be carried on outside the buildings, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To protect the character and appearance of the area in the interests of visual amenity and the amenity of residents in the locality.

8.5 Both full and outline planning permissions

19. No development or preliminary groundworks can commence until a mitigation strategy detailing the excavation / preservation strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason – Because the proposal has the potential to harm non-designated heritage assets with archaeological interest.

20. No development or preliminary groundworks can commence on those areas containing archaeological deposits until the satisfactory completion of fieldwork, as detailed in the mitigation strategy, and which has been approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason - Because the proposal has the potential to harm non-designated heritage assets with archaeological interest.

21. A post excavation assessment shall be submitted to the local planning authority for approval (to be submitted within six months of the completion of the fieldwork, unless otherwise agreed in advance with the Local Planning Authority). This will result in the completion of post excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and report ready for deposition at the local museum, and submission of a publication report

Reason - Because the proposal has the potential to harm non-designated heritage assets with archaeological interest.

22. No development shall take place, including any ground works or demolition, until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Plan shall provide for:

- i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
- ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials
- iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
- iv. wheel and underbody washing facilities

v. prior to the commencement of any work on the site, a joint inspection of the route to be used by construction vehicles should be carried out by the Applicant and the Highway Authority, including photographic evidence. Reason - To ensure that on-street parking of these vehicles in the adjoining streets does not occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not brought out onto the highway in the interests of highway safety.

23. There shall be no discharge of surface water onto the Highway.

Reason - To prevent hazards caused by water flowing onto the highway and to avoid the formation of ice on the highway in the interest of highway safety.

24. Prior to the commencement of development, a Construction Method Statement shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The Construction Method Statement shall provide for:

- measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during demolition and construction;

- a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works;

- details of hours of deliveries relating to the demolition and construction of the development;

- details of hours of site clearance and construction;

- a scheme to control noise and vibration during the demolition and construction phase, including details of any piling operations.

The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period for the development.

Reason - In the interests of residential amenity and highway safety and to reduce the likelihood of complaints of statutory nuisance.

25. Prior to commencement of any above ground works a Noise Impact Assessment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Noise Impact Assessment shall assess the impact of the proposed commercial units upon the neighbouring dwellings hereby granted full and outline planning permission. Any necessary mitigation measures shall be detailed within the Noise Impact Assessment and implemented prior to occupation of the affected dwellings and retained as approved thereafter.

Reason - Due to the residential areas close proximity to the proposed commercial units.

26. Prior to the construction above damp proof course, a scheme for on-site foul water drainage works, including connection point and discharge rate, shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Prior to the occupation of any phase, the foul water drainage works relating to that phase must have been carried out in complete accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason - To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding.

27. No works except demolition shall take place until a detailed surface water drainage scheme for the site, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro geological context of the development, has

been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme should include but not be limited to:

• Limiting discharge to 3.3 l/s (greenfield 1 in 1 year rate which should be confirmed by greenfield calculations) for the residential site, for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year rate plus 40% allowance for climate change. All relevant permissions to discharge from the site into any outfall should be demonstrated.

• Discharge via infiltration for the commercial site for all storm events up to and including the 1 in 100 year rate plus 20% allowance for climate change.

• Final modelling and calculations for all areas of the drainage system.

• Detailed engineering drawings of each component of the drainage scheme.

• A final drainage plan which details exceedance and conveyance routes, FFL and ground levels, and location and sizing of any drainage features.

• A written report summarising the final strategy and highlighting any minor changes to the approved strategy.

Reason - To prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water from the site. To ensure the effective operation of SuDS features over the lifetime of the development. To provide mitigation of any environmental harm which may be caused to the local water environment. Failure to provide the above required information before commencement of works may result in a system being installed that is not sufficient to deal with surface water occurring during rainfall events and may lead to increased flood risk and pollution hazard from the site.

28. No works shall take place until a scheme to minimise the risk of offsite flooding caused by surface water run-off and groundwater during construction works and prevent pollution has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be implemented as approved.

Reason - The National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 163 and paragraph 170 state that local planning authorities should ensure development does not increase flood risk elsewhere and does not contribute to water pollution. Construction may lead to excess water being discharged from the site. If dewatering takes place to allow for construction to take place below groundwater level, this will cause additional water to be discharged. Furthermore the removal of topsoils during construction may limit the ability of the site to intercept rainfall and may lead to increased runoff rates. To mitigate increased flood risk to the surrounding area during construction there needs to be satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water and groundwater which needs to be agreed before commencement of the development. Construction may also lead to polluted water being allowed to leave the site. Methods for preventing or mitigating this should be proposed.

29. Prior to occupation of any phase a maintenance plan detailing the maintenance arrangements for that phase including who is responsible for different elements of the surface water drainage system and the maintenance activities/frequencies, shall have been submitted to and agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. Should any part be maintainable by a maintenance company, details of long term funding arrangements should be provided.

Reason - To ensure appropriate maintenance arrangements are put in place to enable the surface water drainage system to function as intended to ensure mitigation against flood risk.

Failure to provide the above required information prior to occupation may result in the installation of a system that is not properly maintained and may increase flood risk or pollution hazard from the site.

30. The applicant or any successor in title must maintain yearly logs of maintenance which should be carried out in accordance with any approved Maintenance Plan. These must be available for inspection upon a request by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure the SuDS are maintained for the lifetime of the development as outlined in any approved Maintenance Plan so that they continue to function as intended to ensure mitigation against flood risk.

31. Prior to commencement of any above ground works precise details of the existing site levels, proposed site levels and finished floor level and eaves and ridge heights of the hereby permitted buildings in relation to site levels within adjacent sites and floors, eaves and ridge levels of neighbouring property shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and shall be implemented as approved unless the Local Planning Authority first gives written approval to any variation.

Reason - In the interests of visual amenity and privacy.

32. All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out in accordance with the details contained in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Hybrid Ecology, February 2020). This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an ecological clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during construction. The appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall be carried out, in accordance with the approved details.

Reason - To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

33. No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works, site clearance) until a further badger survey and updated mitigation statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. This further survey shall be undertaken to identify whether any Badger activity has changed since the previous surveys were undertaken and whether further mitigation and/or works are required for badgers during the construction phase. The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.

Reason: To conserve Protected species and allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the Badger Protection Act 1992 and s17 Crime & Disorder Act 1998.

34. No development shall take place (including any demolition, ground works, site clearance) until a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following.

a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.

b) Identification of "biodiversity protection zones".

c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements).

d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.

e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to oversee works.

f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.

g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly competent person.

h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.

i) Containment, control and removal of any Invasive non-native species present on site

The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period

strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local

planning authority.

Reason - To conserve Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge its duties

under the UK Habitats Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

35. Prior to commencement of any above ground works a Biodiversity Enhancement Layout providing the finalised details and locations of the enhancement measures contained within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (Hybrid Ecology, February 2020), shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The enhancement measures shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter.

Reason - To enhance protected and Priority species & habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

36. Prior to occupation a lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance along important routes used for foraging; and show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision of appropriate lighting contour plans, Isolux drawings and technical specifications) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent bats using their territory. All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the scheme. Under no circumstances should any other external lighting be installed without prior consent from the local planning authority.

Reason - To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species)

37. Works shall be carried out in full accordance with the Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Preliminary Method Statements dated 10/02/2020 by Tree Planning Solutions unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To protect existing mature vegetation on site.

64. <u>A.4 - PLANNING APPLICATION - 20/00458/OUT - LAND EAST OF BROMLEY ROAD</u> LAWFORD CO11 2HS

Councillor G V Guglielmi had earlier in the meeting declared a personal interest in **Planning Application 20/00458/OUT Land East of Bromley Road, Lawford CO11 2HS** due to being the Ward Member. He was not pre-determined.

The Committee recalled that outline planning permission (all matters apart from access - reserved) had been granted on 13th April 2017 for a mixed development of 360 houses and community facilities/open space on 22.76ha of land to the south of Lawford, under 15/00876/OUT. The current submission related to the variation of Condition 9 of the original planning approval. This dealt with the provision and timeframe for the access from the site onto Long Road.

In accordance with Members' previous request, the current submission had been brought to the Committee which sought its consent with regard to delaying the provision of access onto Long Road from the 201st occupation on site (56% of the total dwellings on site) to the 261st occupation on site (73% of the total dwellings on site).

Members were reminded that the site lay outside the defined settlement boundary of the saved Local Plan but within the settlement boundary of the emerging Local Plan. The principle of residential development had been accepted by the granting of outline planning permission, which had also established the position of the access.

The detailed plans complied with the outline requirements and were considered by officers to be acceptable with no material harm to visual or residential amenity, or highway safety.

The Committee was advised that a legal agreement, 'Deed of Variation' was required for this application in order to ensure the new outline approval linked into the original Section 106 Agreement.

The Committee had before it the published Officer report containing the key planning issues, relevant planning policies, planning history, any response from consultees, written representations received and a recommendation of **approval**.

At the meeting, an oral presentation was made by the Council's Planning Officer (ML) in respect of the application.

Will Vote, acting on behalf of the applicant, spoke in support of the application.

Following discussion by the Committee, it was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor Fowler and unanimously **RESOLVED**, that the Assistant Director (Planning) (or equivalent authorised officer) be authorised to grant planning permission for the development, subject to:

Conditions and Reasons:

1. All applications for approved reserve matters shall be in accordance with the approved master plan and phasing plan / program agreed under application

18/00304/DISCON unless otherwise previously agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - The application is in outline and is for a large development likely to be delivered in phases for which the detail will need to accord broadly with the parameters established at outline stage.

2. Approval of the details of the siting, design and external appearance of the dwellings, the means of access thereto and the landscaping of the site (hereinafter called "the Reserved Matters") shall be obtained for each agreed phase of the development before any development on such phase is commenced.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with any such approval unless agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. To date the development shall be implemented in accordance with the details approved in the following applications:

Phase 1	Reserve Matters Approval	17/01527/DETAIL

Phase 2 Reserve Matters Approval 19/01475/DETAIL

Phase 3 Reserve Matters Approval 20/00480/DETAIL

Also, in association with the following alterations to these approved details within the following applications:

- 19/01498/NMA Non Material Amendment to approval of 15/00876/OUT for substitution of "Cornelia" house type for "Barbier" house type at plots 86-87, 90-93, 100-101. Proposed substitution of "Cornelia" house type for "Cornelia Variation" housetype at plots 54-57. Change of rear and side elevations, and internal layout to "Alexander" house type at plots 75-79.
- 19/01751/DETAIL Reserved matters application following outline permission 15/00876/OUT - Application to substitute "Cornelia" house type for "Barbier" house type at plots 86-87, 90-93, 100-101 as previously approved by 17/01527/DETAIL. Proposed substitution of "Cornelia" house type for "Cornelia Variation" housetype at plots 54-57. Change of rear and side elevations, and internal layout to "Alexander" house type at plots 75-79.
- 20/00178/NMA Non Material Amendment to approval of 15/00876/OUT for substitution of plots 39, 60 and 81 from "Braithewaite Variation" house type to "Braithewaite" house type. Hand plot 63.
- 19/00211/FUL Re-location of approved electrical substation (retrospective) and parking spaces.

Approval of the details of the siting, design and external appearance of the dwellings, the means of access thereto and the landscaping of the site (hereinafter called "the Reserved Matters") shall be obtained for each agreed phase of the development before any development on such phase is commenced. The development shall be carried out in accordance with any such approval.

Reason - The application is in outline and detailed matters require approval before development can commence.

3. The development shall be in general conformity with the principles set out on the submitted drawing entitled Land Use Audit, dated 21/01/16 unless otherwise previously agreed in writing with the LPA.

Reason – To establish reasonable limits to the layout of the development in the interests of good design, layout, appearance and residential amenity.

4. The maximum number of dwellings to be contained in the development shall be up to (but no more than) 360 dwellings.

Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

5. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the Construction Management for Phase 1 and Phase 2 shall be implemented in accordance with the details approved in the following discharge of condition applications:

18/00304/DISCON and 18/01548/DISCON (Phase 1) and 19/01698/DISCON (Phase 2)

Prior to the commencement of development in any other defined phase of the approved development, a construction management plan for that phase, to include but shall not be limited to details of wheel cleaning facilities within the site and adjacent to the egress onto the highway, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The relevant phase of the development shall be constructed in accordance with the agreed plan.

Reason - To protect highway efficiency of movement and safety.

6. No more than 200 dwellings on the development shall be occupied until the following have been provided or completed:

a. A mini-roundabout at the junction of Wignall Street and Bromley Road in accordance with approved Ardent Consulting Engineers drawing K297-002D,

b. Upgrading to current Essex County Council specification of the two bus stops which would best serve the proposal site (either Long Road and/or Wignall Street); and

c. A minimum 3-metre-wide footway/cycleway along the proposal site's Long Road frontage.

d. Upgrade to the Public Right of Way which runs through the proposal site between Long Road and Dead Lane (details shall be agreed with the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of the development).

No more than 260 dwellings on the development shall be occupied until the priority junction with right turn lane (with two pedestrian refuge islands) in Long Road to provide access to the proposal site has been implemented. Priority junction shall have minimum 10.5 metre kerbed radii with dropped kerbs/tactile paving crossing points, a minimum

6.75 metre access road carriageway with one 3 metre footway/cycleway, one 2 metre footway pedestrian/cycle refuge island and a minimum 109 x 2.4 x 120 metre clear to ground visibility splay; in accordance with Ardent Consulting Engineers drawing K297-003A.

Reason - To protect highway efficiency of movement and safety and to ensure the proposal site is accessible by more sustainable modes of transport such as public transport, cycling and walking.

7. Prior to occupation of any defined phase of the approved development, the Developer shall be responsible for the provision and implementation of a Residential Travel Information Pack for sustainable transport (in consultation with Essex County Council), to include six one day travel vouchers per household for use with the relevant local public transport operator.

Reason - In the interests of reducing the need to travel by car and promoting sustainable development and transport.

8. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the surface water drainage scheme for Phase 1 and Phase 2 shall be implemented in accordance with the details approved in the following discharge of conditions application:

18/00304/DISCON (Phase 1) and 19/01698/DISCON (Phase 2)

No other defined phase of the approved development shall take place until a surface water drainage scheme for that phase, based on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. All phases of the development shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the approved details.

In particular the drainage scheme shall include:

• Drainage modelling calculations showing how the run-off for all events up to and including the 1 in 100 year plus climate change is controlled within the site.

• Where infiltration techniques are being proposed, and all run-off cannot be infiltrated, attenuation storage must be provided for any overflow volumes calculated.

• Where run-off is proposed to be discharged to a watercourse, discharge should be limited to the greenfield 1 in 1 year rate for all events.

• Where different SuDS features are being proposed, the drainage modelling should show how these are cascaded together and show clearly their combined effect in controlling both the water quantity and improving water quality within the development.

• Account for a 10% urban creep in the calculation of run-off from the development.

• Provide the appropriate number of treatment stages from the different areas of the development.

• Provide the details of the adoption and maintenance of the scheme for the lifetime of the development.

• Provide the Drainage Scheme Layout showing the SuDS features and their dimensions as appropriate.

Reason - To prevent flooding on the proposed site and the local area by ensuring the satisfactory storage of/disposal of surface water in a range of rainfall events and ensure the system operates as designed for the lifetime of the development.

9. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the foul water drainage scheme for Phase 1 and Phase 2 shall be implemented in accordance with the details approved in the following discharge of condition applications:

18/00304/DISCON (Phase 1) and 19/01698/DISCON (Phase 2)

No development shall commence on other phases until a foul water strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwellings shall be occupied on any defined phase until the works have been carried out in accordance with the foul water strategy so approved unless otherwise approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding.

10. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the hard and soft landscaping scheme for Phase 1 and Phase 2 shall be implemented in accordance with the details approved in the following discharge of conditions application:

18/00304/DISCON & 19/00900/DISCON (Phase 1) and 19/01698/DISCON (Phase 2) No other defined phase of the development shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of hard and soft landscaping works for that phase, which shall include any proposed changes in ground levels and also accurately identify spread, girth and species of all existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows on the site and indicate any to be retained, together with measures for their protection which shall comply with the recommendations set out in the British Standards Institute publication "BS 5837: 2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction."

Reason - In the interest of visual amenity and the character of the area.

11. All changes in ground levels in relation to the soft landscaping, hard landscaping, planting, seeding or turfing shown on the approved landscaping details shall be carried out during the first planting and seeding season (October - March inclusive) following the commencement of the development or in such other phased arrangement as may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any trees or shrubs which, within a period of 5 years of being planted die, are removed or seriously damaged or seriously diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority agrees in writing to a variation of the previously approved details.

Reason - To ensure that the development provides a satisfactory setting, in the interests of the character and appearance of the landscape and the visual amenity of the site.

12. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the ecological mitigation, management and enhancement for Phase 1 and Phase 2 shall be implemented in accordance with the details approved in the following discharge of condition applications:

18/00304/DISCON (Phase 1) and 19/01698/DISCON (Phase 2)

No other defined phase of the approved development shall commence until an Ecological Mitigation Scheme and Management/Enhancement Plan has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The document shall include:

i) A survey to confirm (or otherwise) the presence of protected species on the application site.

If protected species are present, the survey shall be accompanied by a scheme of appropriate mitigation measures (including bat protection measures and precise details of the timing and method/s of protection). No development shall be undertaken except in full accordance with any such approved scheme of mitigation.

ii) A management plan to demonstrate how biodiversity within the site will be encouraged by the development.

Reason - In order to safeguard protected wildlife species and their habitats and in the interests of biodiversity.

13. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the tree protection measures for Phase 1 and Phase 2 shall be implemented in accordance with the details approved in the following discharge of conditions applications:

18/00304/DISCON (Phase 1) and 20/01337/DISCON (Phase 2)

No other defined phase of the development shall commence until details of tree protection measures, including during the construction phase, for that phase, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and such measures as approved shall be implemented fully in accordance with such requirements.

Reason – In order to ensure the protection of trees, in the interests of local and residential amenity.

14. A. The Written Scheme of Investigation for Phase 1 and Phase 2 shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details within the following discharge of condition applications:

18/00750/DISCON (Phase 1) and 19/01698/DISCON (Phase 2)

No development or preliminary ground-works within any other defined phase of the development can commence until a programme of archaeological trial trenching for that phase has been secured and undertaken in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation, which has been submitted by the applicant, and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Following the completion of this initial phase of archaeological work, a summary report will be prepared and a mitigation strategy detailing the approach to further archaeological excavation and/or preservation in situ through re-design of the development, shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority.

B. The archaeological fieldwork for Phase 1 has been approved by the Local Planning Authority within application 18/00750/DISCON. These works have been fully implemented. No development or preliminary groundwork can commence on those other phases of the development site containing archaeological deposits, until the satisfactory completion of archaeological fieldwork, as detailed in the mitigation strategy, which has been signed off by the Local Planning Authority.

C. The post-excavation assessment for Phase 1 has been approved by the Local Planning Authority within application 19/00274/DISCON. Following completion of the archaeological fieldwork on other phases, the applicant will submit to the Local Planning Authority a post-excavation assessment (within six months of the completion date, unless otherwise agreed in advance with the Local Planning Authority), which will result in the completion of post-excavation analysis, preparation of a full site archive and report ready for deposition at the local museum, and submission of a publication report.

Reason - The proposed development is located within an area with potential for below ground archaeological deposits. The development would result in harm to non-designated heritage assets with archaeological interest.

15. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the lighting, refuse storage/collection point and the manufacturer and types and colours of the external facing and roofing materials for the dwellings in Phase 1 and Phase 2 shall be implemented in accordance with the details approved in the following discharge of condition applications:

18/00304/DISCON & 18/01094/DISCON (Phase 1) and 19/01698/DISCON (Phase 2)

Within any other defined phase of the scheme, no development shall commence until precise details of lighting, refuse storage/collection points and the manufacturer and types and colours of the external facing and roofing materials for the dwellings to be used in the construction of that phase have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. Such lighting, refuse points and materials so approved shall be those used in the development.

Reason - To ensure a satisfactory development in relation to external appearance.

16. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the Construction Management Plans of Phase 1 and 2 shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details within the following discharge of condition applications:

18/00304/DISCON (Phase 1) and 19/01698/DISCON (Phase 2)

Within any other defined phase of the development, none of the development shall take place before a method statement for the construction of the development within that phase has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The demolition and construction works for the relevant phase of the scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement.

Details submitted in respect of the method statement, incorporated on a plan, shall provide for wheel cleaning facilities during the excavation, site preparation and construction stages of the development. The method statement shall also include details

of the loading and unloading of plant and materials, details of the piling method, hours of construction, dust suppression strategy, means of recycling materials, noise and vibration mitigation techniques, lighting to be used during construction showing light spill to neighbouring properties (with methods to be employed to prevent nuisance if required), the provision of parking facilities for contractors during all stages of the development (excavation, site preparation and construction) and the provision of a means of storage and/or delivery for all plant, site huts, site facilities and materials.

Reason - To ensure that development is carried out in a controlled manner while minimising impacts on the surrounding residential properties and also in the interests of highway safety.

17. Within the hereby permitted development, no dwelling shall be occupied until a high-speed broadband connection is installed utilising resistant tubing to that dwelling. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, all connections shall be in accordance with the details set out in the GTC letter dated 4 July 2017. If the applicant is unable to achieve this standard of connection, and can evidence through consultation that this would not be possible, practical or economically viable an alternative superfast (i.e. will provide speeds greater than 24mbps) wireless service will be considered acceptable.

Reason - To ensure the development is able to be equipped with high speed broadband to enable opportunities for web-based communication and homeworking.

18. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the development shall be built in accordance with the Local Recruitment Strategy documented within approved application 18/00750/DISCON.

Reason - To promote and encourage the recruitment of employees and other staff in the locality of the application site.

19. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the development shall be built in accordance with the Resource Efficiency Measures Specification Statement documented within approved application 18/00304/DISCON.

Reason - To enhance the sustainability of the development through better use of water, energy and materials.

20. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the land contamination and remediation strategy of Phase 1 and 2 shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details within the following discharge of conditions applications:

18/00750/DISCON (Phase 1) and 19/01698/DISCON (Phase 2)

No other defined phase of development shall commence until an assessment of the risks posed by any contamination within that phase, carried out in accordance with British Standard BS 10175: Investigation of potentially contaminated sites - Code of Practice and the Environment Agency's Model Procedures for the Management of Land

Contamination (CLR 11) (or equivalent British Standard and Model Procedures if replaced), shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. If any contamination is found, a report specifying the measures to be taken, including the timescale, to remediate the site to render it suitable for the approved development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The site shall be remediated in accordance with the approved measures and timescale and a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning outhority. If, during the course of any phase of the development, any contamination is found which has not been previously identified, work shall be suspended and additional measures for its remediation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The site shall be submitted to the local planning authority within 20 days of the report being completed and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason - To ensure that any risks (to future users of the land and neighbouring land and to controlled waters, property and ecological systems) arising from any land contamination are minimised and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.

8.3 Informatives

Positive and Proactive Statement

1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this application by identifying matters of concern within the application (as originally submitted) and negotiating, with the Applicant, acceptable amendments to the proposal to address those concerns. As a result, the Local Planning Authority has been able to grant planning permission for an acceptable proposal, in accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, as set out within the National Planning Policy Framework.

Highways Informatives

- 2. All residential developments in Essex which would result in the creation of a new street (more than five dwelling units communally served by a single all purpose access) will be subject to the Advance Payments Code, Highways Act 1980. The developer will be served with an appropriate notice within 6 weeks of building regulations approval being granted and prior to commencement of the development must provide guaranteed deposits, which will ensure the new street is constructed in accordance with a specification sufficient to ensure future maintenance as highway by the Highway Authority.
- 3. Prior to any works taking place in the highway the developer should enter into an agreement with the Highway Authority under the Highways Act 1980 to regulate the construction of the highway works.
- 4. All or some of the above requirements may attract the need for a commuted sum towards their future maintenance (details should be agreed with the Highway Authority as soon as possible).

5. All work within or affecting the highway is to be laid out and constructed by prior arrangement with and to the requirements and specifications of the Highway Authority; all details shall be agreed before the commencement of works.

The applicants should be advised to contact the Development Management Team by email at development.management@essexhighways.org or by post to:

SMO1 - Essex Highways Colchester Highways Depot, 653 The Crescent, Colchester CO4 9YQ

- 6. The proposal should be in accordance with the Parking Standards Design and Good Practice Supplementary Planning Document dated September 2009.
- 7. S106 Informative: The applicant is reminded that this permission is linked to a planning obligation under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. The original Section 106 associated with application 15/00876/OUT remains in place. This application, via a Deed of Variation Agreement shall honour in full, the details of the original Section 106 document.
- 8. Conditions Informative: Please note that in accordance with Government Legislation a formal application must be made to the Local Planning Authority when submitting details in connection with the approval of details reserved by a condition. A fee of £28 for householder applications and £97 for all other types of application will be required for each written request.

<u>Standard Informative 1:</u> The Provisions of the Essex Act 1987, Section 13 (Access for the Fire Brigade) may apply to this Development and will be determined at Building Regulation Stage.

<u>Standard Informative 2:</u> You are reminded that the carrying out of building works requires approval under the Building Regulations in many cases as well as a grant of planning permission. If you are in doubt as to whether or not the work, the subject of this planning permission, requires such approval, then you are invited to contact the Building Control section at Tendring District Council.

<u>Standard Informative 3:</u> If the development includes the construction of a new building on or at the boundary of 2 properties, work to an existing party wall or party structure or involve excavation near to and below the foundation level of neighbouring buildings, you are advised that the provisions of the Party Wall Act 1996 may apply to this development. An explanatory booklet concerning the implications of this Act is available online or from the District Council.

65. <u>A.5 - PLANNING APPLICATION - 20/00537/FUL - CLACTON LEISURE CENTRE,</u> VISTA ROAD, CLACTON ON SEA, CO15 6DB

Members were informed that this application was before the Planning Committee due to Tendring District Council's ownership of the application site. It was reported that the proposals related to the replacement and refurbishment of the Artificial Grass Pitch (AGP) facility at Clacton Leisure Centre and would deliver an enhanced playing facility, with better qualities, in a suitable location. It would give rise to a considerable benefit to the wider community through the provision of an enhanced playing facility and the continued opportunity for usage throughout the year. Moreover, the proposed AGP would make a significant contribution towards addressing the unmet demand for modern football facilities in the District.

Officers considered that the AGP would not result in an unacceptable impact upon the character, appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area and would not result in an unacceptable impact to residential amenity or have a detrimental impact upon the private amenity of local residents in respect of noise and lighting impacts. Furthermore, the proposal would utilise the existing parking provision and would not result in any harm to the safety of the surrounding public highway network.

The Committee was made aware that the proposal satisfied Sport England's E5 exception policy as the proposed development was for an indoor or outdoor facility for sport, the provision of which would be of sufficient benefit to the development of sport. Sport England did not object to the application subject to a condition securing a Hockey Mitigation Scheme to offset the displacement of hockey use at the site.

Officers believed that the planning application was in compliance with national and local planning policies and would not result in any adverse harm to the character or appearance of the area or highway safety. In the absence of any objections from Sport England and other statutory consultees the proposal was considered to be acceptable subject to the mitigation measures being secured via the proposed conditions.

The Committee had before it the published Officer report containing the key planning issues, relevant planning policies, planning history, any response from consultees, written representations received and a recommendation of **approval**.

At the meeting, an oral presentation was made by the Council's Planning Officer (ML) in respect of the application.

Following discussion by the Committee, it was moved by Councillor Harris, seconded by Councillor Placey and **RESOLVED**, that the Assistant Director (Planning) (or equivalent authorised officer) be authorised to grant planning permission for the development, subject to:

- Approval as per recommendation subject to revision to Condition 5 (Landscaping) to include wording to secure replacement Ash Tree planting.

Conditions and Reasons:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason - To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. No development shall commence until a hockey mitigation scheme to ensure the continuity of provision for the existing hockey use on the artificial grass pitch has

been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (after consultation with Sport England). The scheme must set out details of the contractor's specification and maintenance programme for the enhancement works to the artificial grass pitch at Brightlingsea Sports Centre based on the recommendations in the Surface Performance Ltd Test Report (January 2020), the implementation programme for the enhancement works and the arrangements for securing Clacton Hockey Club's use of the facility. The approved scheme shall be implemented and complied with in full.

Reason - To ensure the satisfactory quantity, quality and accessibility of compensatory provision which secures a continuity of use (phasing provision) and to accord with Development Plan Policy.

3. Use of the 3G artificial grass pitch surface hereby permitted shall not commence until:

(a) certification that the Artificial Grass Pitch surface hereby permitted has met the FIFA Quality accreditation or equivalent International Artificial Turf Standard (IATS) and;

(b) confirmation that the facility has been registered on the Football Association's Register of Football Turf Pitches;

have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason - To ensure the development is fit for purpose and sustainable, provides sporting benefits and to accord with Development Plan Policy.

- 4. The floodlights permitted shall not be switched on or used outside the following times:
 - 09:00 hours to 22:00 hours on any day

Reason - To protect the amenities of local residents, by limiting the potential for any disturbance.

5. No above ground works shall take place until there has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority a scheme of hard and soft landscaping works for the site (including boundary treatments and lighting), which shall include any proposed changes in ground levels and also accurately identify spread, girth and species of all existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows on the site and indicate any to be retained, together with measures for their protection which shall comply with the recommendations set out in the British Standards Institute publication "BS 5837:2012 Trees in relation to design, demolition and construction."

Reason – To secure replacement tree planting in the interest of visual amenity and the character of the area.

6. All changes in ground levels, hard landscaping, planting, seeding or turfing shown on the approved landscaping details shall be carried out during the first planting and seeding season (October - March inclusive) following the

commencement of the development or in such other phased arrangement as may be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any trees or shrubs which, within a period of 5 years of being planted die, are removed or seriously damaged or seriously diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority agrees in writing to a variation of the previously approved details.

Reason - In the interest of visual amenity and the character of the area.

7. The proposed times of construction, demolition and site clearance operations shall be limited to the following hours; 0800 to 1900 Monday to Friday and 0800 to 1300 on Saturdays with no construction operations on Sundays or public holidays.

Reason – To protect the amenity of local residents.

- 8. No development shall take place, including any ground works or demolition, until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Plan shall provide for:
 - i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
 - ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials
 - iii. storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
 - iv. wheel and underbody washing facilities

v. construction vehicle route from the site entrance should be clearly signed and put in place.

Reason - To ensure that on-street parking of these vehicles in the adjoining streets does not occur and to ensure that loose materials and spoil are not brought out onto the highway in the interests of highway safety and Policy DM1.

- 9. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved plans;
 - 19-0182 BM25583 0478 02
 - 19-0182 BM25583 0478 03
 - 19-0182 BM25583 0478 04
 - 19-0182 BM25583 0478 05
 - 19-0182 BM25583 0478 06
 - 19-0182 BM25583 0478 07
 - 19-0182 BM25583 0478 08
 - JKK10672_600 (Tree Protection Plan)

Reason - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

66. EXEMPTION FROM PRESS AND PUBLIC

It was moved by Councillor Bray, seconded by Councillor Harris and:-

RESOLVED that under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of Agenda Item 11 on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A, as amended, of the Act.

The meeting was declared closed at 11.25 pm

Chairman